Effects of Non-*albicans Candida* species on biofilm formation and acidogenicity of dualspecies biofilms and on cariogenic virulence gene expression of *Streptococcus mutans* 



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Medical Microbiology Medical Microbiology,Interdisciplinary Program GRADUATE SCHOOL Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2019 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University ผลของ Non-albicans Candida species ต่อการสร้างไบโอฟิล์ม และการสร้างกรดในไบโอฟิล์ม สองสายพันธุ์ และต่อการแสดงออกของยีนส์ที่เกี่ยวข้องกับปัจจัยก่อโรคฟันผุของ Streptococcus mutans



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาจุลชีววิทยาทางการแพทย์ สหสาขาวิชาจุลชีววิทยาทางการแพทย์ บัณฑิตวิทยาลัย จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2562 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Thesis Title	Effects of Non-albicans Candida species on biofilm
	formation and acidogenicity of dual-species biofilms and
	on cariogenic virulence gene expression of Streptococcus
	mutans
Ву	Miss Wirunphat Sansanoa
Field of Study	Medical Microbiology
Thesis Advisor	Associate Professor PANIDA THANYASRISUNG, DDS,
	PhD.
Thesis Co Advisor	Associate Professor ORANART MATANGKASOMBUT,
	DDS, PhD.

Accepted by the GRADUATE SCHOOL, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Master of Science

Dean of the GRADUATE SCHOOL

(Associate Professor THUMNOON NHUJAK, PhD.)

SECONDO S

THESIS COMMITTEE

awaayn sofywaa Chairman

(Associate Professor KANITHA PATARAKUL, MD, PhD.)

\_\_\_\_\_ Thesis Advisor

(Associate Professor PANIDA THANYASRISUNG, DDS,

PhD.)

Thesis Co-Advisor

(Associate Professor ORANART MATANGKASOMBUT,

DDS, PhD.)

External Examiner

(Professor Rawee Teanpaisan, PhD.)

วิรัลพัชร แสนเสนาะ : ผลของ Non-albicans Candida species ต่อการสร้างไบโอฟิล์ม และการสร้างกรดในไบโอฟิล์มสองสายพันธุ์ และต่อการแสดงออกของยีนส์ที่เกี่ยวข้องกับ ปัจจัยก่อโรคพันผุของ Streptococcus mutans. (Effects of Non-albicans Candida species on biofilm formation and acidogenicity of dual-species biofilms and on cariogenic virulence gene expression of Streptococcus mutans) อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก : รศ. ทญ. ดร.พนิดา ธัญญศรีสังข์, อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม : รศ. ทญ. ดร.อรนาฏ มาตังคสมบัติ

โรคพันผุในเด็กปฐมวัยเป็นหนึ่งในโรคช่องปากที่พบได้บ่อยในเด็กเล็กซึ่งส่งผลกระทบต่อสุขภาพ ร่างกายของเด็ก เชื้อ Streptococcus mutans เป็นเชื้อก่อโรคพันผุที่สำคัญเพราะมีคุณสมบัติก่อโรคพันผุซึ่งก็ คือ การผลิตกรด การทนกรด และการสร้างไบโอฟิล์ม การศึกษาเมื่อไม่นานนี้แสดงให้เห็นว่า Candida albicans ซึ่งมักพบร่วมกับ S. mutans ในคราบจุลินทรีย์ของเด็กที่มีพันผูอาจมีบทบาททำให้โรคพันผูเพิ่มขึ้น นอกจากนั้น มีรายงานความชุกที่เพิ่มขึ้นของเชื้อ non-*albicans Candida* species (NACs) ในเด็ก และ ผู้ป่วยภูมิคุ้มกันบกพร่อง ดังนั้นการศึกษานี้จึงมีวัตถุประสงค์เพื่อศึกษาผลของเชื้อ NACs เมื่อเลี้ยงร่วมกับ S. mutans ต่อคุณสมบัติการก่อโรคพันนุ และการแสดงออกของยืนก่อโรคของ S. mutans ผลการทดลองพบว่า การเลี้ยง S. mutans ร่วมกับ C. albicans หรือ NACs ทำให้มวลไบโอฟิล์มเพิ่มขึ้น โดย Candida tropicalis เพิ่มมวลไบโอฟิล์ม และจำนวนเชื้อที่มีชีวิต อย่างเห็นได้ชัดของไบโอฟิล์มสองสายพันธุ์ แต่ไม่ทำให้ความเป็น กรดเพิ่มขึ้น สำหรับการแสดงออกของยืนของ S. mutans พบว่า ยืนที่สัมพันธ์กับการสร้างเอ็กโซโพลีแซคคา ไรด์ (*gtfBCD*) การขนส่งน้ำตาล (scrAB) และการใช้น้ำตาล (*pdhA* และ *pfl*) เพิ่มขึ้นในไบโอฟิล์มสองสาย พันธุ์ เมื่อเลี้ยงร่วมกับ C. albicans, C. tropicalis และ Candida krusei ในทางตรงข้าม การแสดงออกของ ยืนที่เกี่ยวข้องกับการทนกรด (atpD และ fabM) ในไบโอฟิล์มสองสายพันธุ์ คล้ายกับในไบโอฟิล์มของ S. mutans เดี่ยว อย่างไรก็ตาม การแสดงออกของยืนที่เกี่ยวกับ ระบบการส่งสัญญาณ (ciaRH) เพิ่มขึ้นในไบโอ ฟิล์มสองสายพันธุ์ระหว่าง S. mutans และ C. albicans หรือ NACs, ยกเว้น C. dubliniensis โดยสรุป การศึกษานี้แสดงให้เห็นว่าเสื้อ NACs โดยเฉพาะ C. tropicalis และ C. krusei สามารถเพิ่มปัจจัยในการก่อ โรคพื้นผุของ S. mutans คล้ายกับ C. albicans

สาขาวิชา	จุลชีววิทยาทางการแพทย์	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
ปีการศึกษา	2562	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก
		ลายปีดซื่ด ด พื่ง โร้กาษาร่างเ

#### # # 6087293620 : MAJOR MEDICAL MICROBIOLOGY

#### **KEYWORD**:

Non-albicans Candida species, Dual-species biofilms, Streptococcus mutans, Cariogenic virulence gene expression

Wirunphat Sansanoa : Effects of Non-albicans Candida species on biofilm formation and acidogenicity of dual-species biofilms and on cariogenic virulence gene expression of Streptococcus mutans. Advisor: Assoc. Prof. PANIDA THANYASRISUNG, DDS, PhD. Co-advisor: Assoc. Prof. ORANART MATANGKASOMBUT, DDS, PhD.

Early childhood caries is a common oral disease found in children which could affect their general health. Streptococcus mutans is an important cariogenic pathogen since it possesses cariogenic properties, which are acid production, acid tolerance and biofilm formation. Recent studies showed that Candida albicans, which is frequently found together with S. mutans in plaques of children with dental caries, enhances cariogenicity. At the same time, increasing prevalence of non-albicans Candida species (NACs) in children and immune-compromised patients has been reported. Therefore, this study aims to investigate the effects of NACs when cocultured with S. mutans on cariogenic properties and virulence gene expression of S. mutans. The results showed that C. albicans and NACs, especially Candida tropicalis, increased biofilm mass and cell viability of dual species biofilm, but did not increase acid production. For S. mutans gene expression, the genes related to exopolysaccharides synthesis (gtfBCD), sugar transportation (scrAB) and sugar utilization (pdhA and pfl) were up-regulated in dual species biofilm when coculture with C. albicans, C. tropicalis and Candida krusei. In contrast, the expression levels of genes related to acid stress tolerance (atpD and fabM) in all dual-species biofilm were similar to S. mutans in single-species biofilm. In addition, the expression of genes involved in the signal transduction system (ciaRH) were upregulated in dual-species biofilms of S. mutans and C. albicans or NACs, except C. dubliniensis. In conclusion, the presence of NACs, especially C. tropicalis and C. krusei, could enhance cariogenic virulence factors of S. mutans similarly to C. albicans.

Field of Study: Medical Microbiology Academic Year: 2019

Student's Signature
Advisor's Signature
Co-advisor's Signature

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to express my deep gratitude to Assoc. Prof. Panida Thanyasrisung, D.D.S., Ph.D., my thesis advisor for her support, invaluable counselling, motivation, and kindness throughout the process of research and writing of this thesis. Doing this master's degree made me feel a little worried because I thought I was not a bright student but with many suggestions from my thesis advisor encourages me to develop my research skills.

I would like to extend my gratitude to Assoc. Prof. Oranart Matangkasombut, D.D.S., Ph.D., my thesis co-advisor for her kind suggestions, indispensable help and encouragement throughout this study. Her advices always help me all the time in doing the research and writing for this thesis.

I would like to acknowledge Teerasit Techawiwattanaboon, Ph.D., and all members in the molecular laboratory, 15th floor at the Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine for the technical assistance on quantitative real-time PCR and thank Oral Biology Research Center, Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University for the facility support.

I am grateful to Graduate School Chulalongkorn University for the support on my research and education: the 90th Anniversary of Chulalongkorn University Fund (Ratchadaphiseksomphot Endowment Fund), Ratchadaphiseksomphot Endowment Fund (to RU on Oral Microbiology and Immunology), 60/40 support for tuition fee and teaching assistant scholarship.

Special thanks to all members in the Research Unit on Oral Microbiology and Immunology laboratory at the Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University for their helps and encouragements.

Finally, I would like to express my gratitude to my family for their love, understanding, support and encouragement throughout my life.

Wirunphat Sansanoa

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page	е
ABSTRACT (THAI)iii	
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH) iv	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv	
TABLE OF CONTENTS	
LIST OF TABLES	
LIST OF FIGURES ix	
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION	
Research hypothesis	
Research objectives	
CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1 Dental caries and early childhood caries (ECC)15	
2.2 <i>Streptococcus mutans</i> and its cariogenic virulence factors	
cariogenic virulence	
2.4 <i>Candida</i> cell wall mannan21	
2.5 Non-albicans Candida species (NACs) in oral infection and their cell wall mannan	
structure	
CHAPTER III MATERIALS AND METHODS	
3.1 Microorganism strains and growth conditions27	
3.2 Preparation of biofilm27	

3.3 Determination of biofilm mass using crystal violet assay	
3.4 Determination of cell viability	
3.5 Determination of biofilm acidogenicity	
3.6 Determination of virulence gene expression of S. mutans	
3.7 Statistical analysis	
CHAPTER IV RESULTS	
4.1 Biofilm mass of single- and dual-species biofilm	
4.2 Cell viability of S. mutans and Candida spp. in single- and dual- species b	iofilm 38
4.3 pH of single-species and dual-species biofilm	41
4.4 Effects of Candida spp. on the expression cariogenic virulence genes of S	5.
mutans in dual-species biofilm	43
CHAPTER V DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	50
APPENDIX A	58
REAGENTS AND INSTRUMENTS	58
APPENDIX B	61
REAGENTS PREPARATION	61
REFERENCES	63

# LIST OF TABLES

	Page
Table 1 List of primer sequences of cariogenic virulence genes of Streptococcus	
mutans	32



### LIST OF FIGURES

	Page
Figure 1. Sugar transportation of <i>Streptococcus mutans</i>	17
Figure 2. Candida albicans cell wall.	22
Figure 3 Structure of the cell wall mannan of Candida albicans and NACs	24
Figure 4 Determination of biofilm mass of single-species and dual-species biofilm via	
crystal violet assay.	37
Figure 5 Determination of cell viability using MTT assay in single-species and dual-	
species biofilms	39
Figure 6 Determination of cell viability using microbial count method (CFU/ml)	40
Figure 7. Determination of pH after 36 h of biofilm formation	41
Figure 8. Determination of the dynamics of pH change over time during biofilm	
formation	42
Figure 9. The relative levels of expression of genes involved in EPS synthesis and	
glucan binding	44
Figure 10. The relative levels of expression of genes involved in sugar utilization	46
Figure 11. The relative levels of expression of genes involved in acid stress tolerance.	.47
Figure 12. The relative levels of expression of genes involved in signal transduction	
system.	48

### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ATCC	American Type Culture collection
BHI	Brain Heart Infusion
CFU	Colony-forming unit
СТ	Cycle threshold
$^{\Box}$ C	Degree Celsius
DEPC	Diethyl pyrocarbonate
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
ECC	Early Childhood caries
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EPS	Exopolysaccharide
g	CHULAL <sup>Gram</sup> KORN UNIVERSITY
h	Hour
KCI	Potassium Chloride
KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub>	Potassium dihydrogen phosphate
L	Liter
Μ	Molar
mg	Milligram

ml	Milliliter
mm	Millimeter
mM	Millimolar
MS	Mitis-Salivarius
MTT	((3-[4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2, 5 diphenyl tetrazolium
	bromide)
NaCl	Sodium chloride
Na <sub>2</sub> HPO <sub>4</sub> 2H <sub>2</sub> O	Disodium hydrogen phosphate dihydrate
nm	Nanometer
OD	Optical density
SDA	Sabouraud dextrose agar
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
hđ	Microgram Microgram
μΙ	Microliter
-	

#### CHAPTER I

#### INTRODUCTION

Dental caries is a multifactorial disease occurring when oral ecology shifts to acidic conditions that favor the change of microbial profile towards cariogenic pathogens (1). It is one of the most common diseases found in children, which is called early childhood caries (ECC). ECC affects children not only on their general health but also on their quality of life (2). One of the important factors causing ECC is dental biofilm, known as dental plaque. The biofilms consist of diverse microorganisms embedded in extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) (2-5). Streptococcus mutans (S. mutans) has been known for a long time as a major cariogenic pathogen (6) since it is commonly found in dental plaque of children with ECC (7, 8). Moreover, the bacteria showed their ability on acid production, acid tolerance and biofilm formation, which are the main virulence characters of cariogenic pathogens (8). S. mutans produce lactic acid as a by-product from sucrose metabolism. To survive in this acidic condition, they maintain pH in their cells via several mechanisms such as increased the levels of monounsaturated and longer chain fatty acids in membrane composition, increasing proton extrusion via the proton-extruding  $F_1F_0$ -ATPase pump and end-product efflux (8, 9). For biofilm formation via the sucrose dependent pathway, S. mutans produce glucosyltransferases (Gtfs) to convert sucrose to glucan and fructose. Water-insoluble

glucan (produced by GtfB) is one of the key molecules which play a role in adhering microbes to microbes and microbes to tooth surfaces (10).

*Candida albicans* (*C. albicans*) is the most prevalent species found in oral fungal infections (11). Recent clinical studies revealed that *C. albicans* is frequently coisolated with *S. mutans* from plaque in children with dental caries (12-14). The study of interactions between these two microbes revealed that *S. mutans*-derived GtfB has high affinity and binding strength to mannoproteins of *C. albicans* cell wall. This interaction enhances the production of glucan matrix leading to biofilm development (15). Moreover, the presence of *C. albicans* in dual-species biofilms increases cariogenic virulence gene expressions of *S. mutans* especially genes related to the process of sugar utilization (15-18).

While most of studies focus on the mechanisms of interaction between *S*. *mutans* and *C*. *albicans*, increasing prevalence of non-*albicans Candida* species (NACs) found in children and immune-compromised patients is reported (12, 19-22). In case of ECC, the various NACs, including *Candida glabrata* (*C. glabrata*), *Candida tropicalis* (*C. tropicalis*) and *Candida dubliniensis* (*C. dubliniensis*), were also found in the dental plaque (12, 19, 22, 23). NACs possess different cell wall mannoproteins from *C. albicans* (24-26). These differences may impact pathogenic potential of dual-species biofilms and cariogenic virulence of *S. mutans*. Therefore, the aim of this study is to

determine the effect of NACs on biofilm formation and acidogenicity in dual-species biofilms and on cariogenic virulence gene expression of *S. mutans*.

#### Research hypothesis

Co-culture of non-albicans Candida species (NACs) and S. mutans modulates biofilm formation and acidogenicity in dual-species biofilms and cariogenic virulence

gene expression of S. mutans.

#### Research objectives

1. To investigate the effects of non-albicans Candida species (NACs) on biofilm

acidogenicity, biofilm mass and cell viability of dual-species biofilms.

2. To investigate the effects of non-albicans Candida species (NACs) on

cariogenic virulence gene expression of S. mutans in dual-species biofilms.

#### CHAPTER II

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Dental caries and early childhood caries (ECC)

Dental caries is a disease resulting from dysbiosis of microorganisms in oral biofilm induced by the changes of oral environment (1). In heathy condition, the tooth surfaces are covered by commensal microbial biofilm that mainly consist of non-mutans streptococci. The disease initially occurs when there are excessive fermentable carbohydrates, which are metabolized by microbes in biofilm producing acid as a by-product. As a result of acid accumulation in biofilm, microbial composition is shifted to cariogenic pathogens, which can grow in this acidic condition and can produce more acid. The pathogens, moreover, synthesize glucans, which help the cells to adhere to tooth surfaces or to other cells and finally creating a cariogenic biofilm (1, 8).

Early childhood caries (ECC) is dental caries found in primary teeth of children **CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY** younger than 6 years old. Although there have been a lot of efforts to manage the disease, ECC is still one of the most prevalent diseases found in children worldwide (2, 27). The etiology of ECC is similar to dental caries in permanent teeth but the disease progression is faster. This faster caries progression is due to thinner and lesser organized ultrastructure of enamel in primary teeth than that of permanent teeth (27). There are many clinical and experimental studies showing the association between ECC and mutans streptococci (MS) especially, *Streptococcus mutans* (2, 7, 8, 28). Two-year follow-up study found that children with salivary *S. mutans* over 10<sup>5</sup> CFU/ml have higher caries progression than children with low bacterial count (29). Furthermore, several recent studies showed that *Candida albicans* is frequently detected with *S. mutans* in dental plaque from children with ECC but not from caries free children (12, 18, 23). Moreover, an *in vivo* study revealed that this bacterial-fungal interaction occurs in the presence of sucrose (28). Based on current knowledge, ECC is a result of excessive consumption of sucrose together with the activities of complex microbes that lead to acidic environment in the biofilm.

#### 2.2 Streptococcus mutans and its cariogenic virulence factors

*Streptococcus mutans* has been considered as one of the primary etiological pathogens associated with dental caries, particularly in ECC, since it is commonly found in carious lesions. Besides, it has cariogenic capabilities, i.e. acid production (acidogenicity), acid tolerance (aciduricity) and synthesis of exopolysaccharide (EPS) in the presence of sucrose (1, 5).

To gain energy for living, *S. mutans* transports sugars into cells via mainly two systems including phosphoenolpyruvate phosphotransferase (PEP-PTS) transport system and non-PTS system. Once sugars are inside the cells, they are metabolized via glycolysis pathway to pyruvate and energy. In case of sucrose, sucrose-6-phosphate hydrolase (encoded by scrB) cleaves sucrose-6 phosphate to glucose-6-phosphate in order to enter glycolysis (30). Under anaerobic condition and excess sugars (similar to the conditions inside biofilms), *S. mutans* uses lactate dehydrogenase to convert pyruvate to lactate, which is pumped out of the cells together with protons in form as lactic acid (31) as shown in **Figure 1**. *S. mutans* possesses an extraordinary ability to transport sugars into the cells faster than other bacteria in biofilm, which resulting in faster acid production (32).



Figure 1. Sugar transportation of Streptococcus mutans.

Sugar transportation of Streptococcus mutans modified from Marsh PD et al. and He J et al. (31, 33). In S. mutans, two major incorporation systems, the phosphoenolpyruvate phosphotransferase (PEP-PTS) and non-PTS system, have been reported (31). After sugars are transport into cell, the sugar molecule is processed and finally metabolized to enter the glycolysis pathway. **EII**: Enzyme II; **MSM**: multiple sugar metabolism; **S-6-P**: sucrose-6-phosphate; **G-6-P**: glucose-6-phosphate; **F-6-P**: fructose-6-phosphate.

Besides the ability to produce acid, S. mutans has ability to survive, grow and function in low pH condition. This acid tolerance is a consequence of mechanisms that maintain intracellular pH homeostasis, including prevention of proton influx by membrane composition alteration and increase proton extrusion by F<sub>1</sub>F<sub>0</sub>-ATPase activity and acid end product efflux (8, 9). S. mutans prevents proton influx by increasing the production of monounsaturated and longer chain fatty acids, which are regulated by fabM gene (34), to a level of four-time higher than that of saturated fatty acids. The key mechanism to maintain intracellular pH, not only found in S. mutans but also other acid tolerant species, is  $F_1F_0$ -ATPase proton pump. The  $F_1F_0$ -ATPase complex is encoded by the atpHAGDC operon (35) and AtpD plays an important role in the complex construction (36). The  $F_1F_0$ -ATPase complex is produced in larger amounts in S. mutans compared to other commensal streptococci in low pH condition and consequently pumps protons out of the cells. For acid end product efflux, as mentioned above, lactate is excreted together with protons out of the cells as lactic acid (8, 9).

The production of exopolysaccharide (EPS) is one of key pathogenic roles of *S. mutans* as mentioned above. *S. mutans* produces 3 types of exoenzyme glucosyltranferases (Gtfs): GtfB (insoluble glucans), GtfC (soluble and insoluble

glucans) and GtfD (soluble glucans), to turn sucrose into glucans and fructose. The secreted Gtfs can bind to the surfaces of other microbes and change them to glucan producers. Glucans, particularly insoluble glucans, are the main components of biofilm matrix which bind to tooth surfaces and to bacterial cell surface proteins (glucanbinding proteins; Gbps) (8, 10, 28, 37, 38). S. mutans produces at least 4 types of Gbps including GbpA, GbpB, GbpC and GbpD. Among these, GbpB is the most interesting, since it can induce protective immune responses to dental caries in animal models and has highest glucan binding property, which indicated that it may be one of cariogenic virulence factors (30, 39). Previous studies, including data from Human Oral Microbiome Database, revealed that S. mutans is the main among only a few oral species that can synthesize insoluble glucans (8, 28). The EPS matrix prevents saliva to neutralize acid inside the biofilm leading to accumulation of acids. The acidic environment enhances the growth of other aciduric and acidogenic pathogens (28). Thus, with this unique ability, S. mutans may be considered as a cariogenic biofilm initiator.

2.3 *S. mutans* and *C. albicans* dual-species biofilms and their influences on cariogenic virulence

Several clinical studies revealed that *C. albicans* can be frequently co-isolated with *S. mutans* from dental plaque in children with ECC (12, 18). Moreover, the presence of *C. albicans* together with *S. mutans* cause more severity of carious lesion than *S.* 

*mutans* single species infection (17, 23). The mechanisms underlying this intriguing increase in cariogenicity of dual species biofilm are not yet clearly understood.

As mentioned above, the virulence factors of cariogenic pathogens consist of aciduricity, acidogenicity and biofilm formation (9). Previous evidences showed that the presence of sucrose mediates the interaction between *S. mutans* and *C. albicans* via glucosyltransferase B (GtfB) (40, 41). *S. mutans* produces GtfB, which binds strongly to *C. albicans* cell wall mannans (15) and hyphae (41). At the same time, *C. albicans* induces *S. mutans gtfB* gene expression (17). When sucrose is available, large amounts of glucans are produced from *S. mutans*-secreted GtfB and also *C. albicans* surface-bound GtfB. This phenomenon promotes the adhesion between microbes to microbes and microbes to tooth surface leading to the increase in the mass of dual-species biofilm (15). Furthermore, not only *S. mutans*, but also *C. albicans*, are aciduric and acidogenic microorganisms. Thus, both microbes could contribute to the cariogenic ability of dual species biofilm (42).

Moreover, a recent transcriptome study showed that the presence of *C. albicans* up-regulated expression of *S. mutans* genes related to sugar utilization (Fig. 1) such as *scrA* (Enzyme II) which related to sugar transportation via PEP-PTS system, *Idh* (lactate dehydrogenase), *pdh* (pyruvate dehydrogenase) and *pfl* (pyruvate formate lyase) which related to acid production (33). The study also showed that the expression of *ciaRH* 

genes which regulate acid tolerance, sucrose-dependent adhesion, and biofilm formation are increased (33).

#### 2.4 Candida cell wall mannan

Cell wall is the dynamic structure which involves in cell division and cell expansion. Moreover, as the outermost structure, it protects the microbes from harmful environment and interacts with other microbes and host cells (43). The cell wall of *Candida* species is mainly composed of chitin and  $\beta$ 1,3-linked glucan in the inner layer, and  $\beta$ 1,6-glucan, mannan and proteins in the outer layer (Fig. 2, (15, 44)). Mannan locates at the outermost layer of cell wall which mediate adhesion activity (45). *Candida albicans* cell wall mannan composes of *O*-mannan and *N*-mannan linked to proteins as shown in Fig. 2 (46). *O*-mannan is unbranched mannan that consists of a few mannose units joined together through **Q**-1,2 linkages and linked to proteins via the hydroxyl group of serine and threonine (43). *N*-mannan is branched mannose polymers that are joined through **Q**-1,6 linkages and linked to asparagine through an N-acetyl-D-glucosamine (43). The characteristics and arrangement composition of mannoproteins are different among various *Candida* species (24, 47, 48).



Figure 2. Candida albicans cell wall.

Candida albicans cell wall (A, reproduced from (44), CC-BY 3.0) and outer wall (B, reproduced from (49), CC-BY 3.0).

Previous study showed that *C. albicans* mutant strains lacking both *O*-mannan and *N*-mannan lost binding to GtfB of *S. mutans*. These observations point out that the mannan is important for interaction between these two microbes, which may affect the cariogenic potential of dual-species biofilm (15).

#### หาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

2.5 Non-albicans Candida species (NACs) in oral infection and their cell wall mannan

structure

*Candida* species are commensal oral microbiota, but can also be the most common fungal pathogens which can cause oral candidiasis and dental caries (50). Although *C. albicans* is the most prevalent species, there have been increasing reports of clinical isolations of NACs from children, elderly and immunocompromised patients, who generally have higher caries risk (20, 22, 51, 52). Several ECC studies revealed the

22

presence of NACs including *C. tropicalis, C. krusei, C. parapsilosis, C. glabrata* and *C. dubliniensis* in children with dental caries (12, 22, 23). de Carvalho and colleagues reported a high frequency of *C. albicans*, followed by *C. tropicalis* and *C. krusei*, in dental plaque of children with dental caries (12). In another study, Raja and colleagues showed that the most prevalent NACs in ECC were *C. tropicalis* and *C. parapsilosis* (53). Xiao and colleagues showed that *C. albicans* is the most prevalent, followed by *C. krusei* and *C. glabrata*, in ECC. (23). In addition, although most studies focused on *C. albicans, C. dubliniensis* have phenotypic similarities to *C. albicans* (54) and may also be involved in dental caries. Al-Ahmad and colleagues reported that, while *C. albicans* was detected in both caries-free and caries-active dental plaque, *C. dubliniensis* was not detected in caries-free group but occurred in approximately 25% of caries active subjects (22).

Interestingly, these NACs possess different mannan structures and composition from *C. albicans* (47, 48, 55). *C. albicans* mannan consists of short-chain *O*-linked mannan oligosaccharides and branching *N*-linked mannan polysaccharide moieties (15) as shown in **Figure 3**. *C. tropicalis* cell wall also possesses *O*- and *N*- mannan structures similarly to *C. albicans*, but *N*-mannans of *C. tropicalis* are more abundant of phosphomannan and  $\beta$  1,2-mannose residues than those of *C. albicans* (Fig. 3B) (47). *C. glabrata* cell wall was shown to have diversity of mannan composition in *O*- and *N*- mannan structures (Fig. 3C) (48), whereas cell wall mannan of *C. parapsilosis* contains short-chain branching in *N*- mannan structure (Fig. 3D) (55).



(A) Candida albicans

Figure 3 Structure of the cell wall mannan of *Candida albicans* and NACs.

Structure of Candida spp. cell wall mannan. Candida albicans (A ,reproduced from (49), CC-BY 3.0), Candida tropicalis (B), Candida glabrata (C) and Candida parapsilosis (D) (15, 47, 48, 55).

*Candida* cell wall mannan has been reported to play an important role in the interaction between *C. albicans* and *S. mutans* in dual-species biofilms. Thus, the differences in the structure and composition of cell wall mannan among distinct *Candida* species may affect the binding of GTFs and biofilm formation. This, and other properties of these *Candida* species, may influence cariogenic virulence factors of *S. mutans* and of dual-species biofilms. Thus, this study aims to determine the effects of NACs on biofilm formation and acidogenicity in dual-species biofilms, and cariogenic virulence gene expression of *S. mutans*.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

### CHAPTER III

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

Methodology scheme



- Aciduricity
  - : fabM and atpD
- Signal transduction system
  - : ciaH and ciaR

#### 3.1 Microorganism strains and growth conditions

Streptococcus mutans UA159, Candida albicans SC5314, Candida dubliniensis NCPF3949, Candida glabrata ATCC2001, Candida tropicalis ATCC750, Candida parapsilosis ATCC90018 and Candida krusei (Issatschenki orientialis) ATCC6258 were used in this study.

An inoculum from -80°C bacterial glycerol stocks was streaked on Brain Heart Infusion (BHI) agar and was incubated for 36 hours at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. A single colony was inoculated into 7 ml of BHI broth and was incubated for 18 hours at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. The optical density of overnight culture was measured at the wavelength 600 nm. (OD<sub>600</sub>) and adjusted to OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.1. The culture was incubated until it reached log phase (OD<sub>600</sub> = 0.4 - 0.6; approximately 4 hours).

An inoculum from -80°C fungal glycerol stocks was streaked onto Yeast Extract-Peptone-Dextrose (YPD) agar and was incubated for 36 hours at 30°C. A single colony was inoculated into 7 ml of BHI broth and was incubated for 18 hours at 30°C. The optical density of overnight culture was measured at the wavelength 600 nm. ( $OD_{600}$ ) and adjusted to  $OD_{600}$  of 0.1. The culture was incubated until it reached log phase ( $OD_{600} = 0.4 - 0.6$ ; approximately 4 hours).

#### 3.2 Preparation of biofilm

For single-species biofilm formation, log phase culture of *S. mutans* UA159 was adjusted to  $OD_{600}$  of 0.4 (approximately 10<sup>8</sup> CFU/ml). *Candida* spp. cultures were also

adjusted to  $OD_{600}$  of 0.1 (approximately 10<sup>6</sup> CFU/ml). One ml of each adjusted culture was centrifuged at 12,000 g, 25°C for 15 minutes. The cell pellets were re-suspended in 500 µl of BHI broth supplemented with 5% sucrose and transferred to separate wells in a 24-well plate. The plate was incubated for 36 hours in 37°C with 5% CO2 to form biofilm.

To prepare dual-species biofilms, the protocol was similar to the single-species biofilm but the microbes were mixed with a ratio  $10^8$  CFU/ml of *S. mutans* to  $10^6$  CFU/ml of *Candida* spp. to simulate the proportion found in the saliva samples of children with ECC (15), and resuspended in BHI broth supplemented with 5% sucrose before transferring to a well in a 24-well plate.

#### 3.3 Determination of biofilm mass using crystal violet assay

After biofilm formation, the plate was washed three times with 1 ml of sterile 1xPhosphate Buffered Saline (1xPBS, pH 7.4). The biofilm of each well was fixed with 500 µl of 95% ethyl alcohol for 20 minutes at room temperature and then stained with 500 µl of 0.1% (w/v) crystal violet (CV) for 15 minutes. After that, the stained-biofilm was washed three times with distilled water and the plate was dry. The biofilm then was destained with 1 ml of 33% acetic acid. The optical density of the de-stained solution was measured at 520 nm (56).The sterile BHI broth supplemented with 5% sucrose was used as a blank.The experiments were performed three times independently. Biofilm mass was calculated using the following formula:

Ratio of biofilm mass =

OD<sub>520</sub> of dual species biofilm

 $OD_{520}$  of *S. mutans* biofilm +  $OD_{520}$  of *Candida* spp. biofilm

#### 3.4 Determination of cell viability

3.4.1 MTT assay

After biofilm formation, the plates were washed three times with 1 ml of sterile 1xPhosphate Buffered Saline (1xPBS, pH7.4). Next, 500  $\mu$ l of MTT ((3-[4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2, 5 diphenyl tetrazolium bromide) solution was added into each well and then incubated for 3 hours. After incubation, 500  $\mu$ l of 100% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was added to dissolve the formazan. The solution was transferred to a new plate and the OD<sub>570</sub> and OD<sub>690</sub> (background) were measured (57). The sterile BHI broth supplemented with 5% sucrose was used as a blank. The experiments were performed three times independently. The cell viability was calculated using the following formula: Ratio of cell viability = OD<sub>570,690</sub> of dual species biofilm OD<sub>570,690</sub> of *S. mutans* biofilm + OD<sub>570,690</sub> of *Candida* spp. biofilm

3.4.2 Microbial counts

After biofilm formation, the plates were washed three times with 1 ml of sterile 1xPhosphate Buffered Saline (1xPBS, pH 7.4) to remove non-adherent cells. Biofilms were scraped and re-suspended into 1 ml of PBS. The cell clumps were disrupted by an ultrasonic homogenizer with amplitude of 25% for 30 seconds twice (16). The homogenized suspension was serially diluted and plated on 1) Mitis-Salivarius agar (MS agar: selective media for streptococci) and 2) Sabouraud dextrose agar (SDA) for *Candida* spp. MS agar plates were incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> whereas SDA plates were incubated at  $30^{\circ}$ C (16). After 36 hours of incubation, the number of colony-forming unit (CFU) was determined. The experiments were performed three times independently. The number of microbes were presented as Log<sub>10</sub> CFU/ml.

#### 3.5 Determination of biofilm acidogenicity

There is no difference between pH value of within biofilm and those of culture medium (17); therefore, biofilm acidogenicity was determined by measuring the pH of the culture medium.

After 36 hours of biofilm formation, the pH value of culture medium was measured by a pH meter (LAQUAtwin, HORIBA, and Singapore). The experiments were performed three times independently.

To investigate dynamic change of biofilm acidogenicity, the pH value of culture medium was measured at the beginning (0 min), 15 min, 30 min, 45 min, 1 h, 2 h, 3 h, 4 h, 8 h, 12 h, 24 h and 36 h. The experiments were performed three times independently.

#### 3.6 Determination of virulence gene expression of S. mutans

#### 3.6.1 RNA extraction and purification

The protocol described by Cury JA and Koo H was employed with minor modifications (58). After 36 hours of biofilm formation, the biofilms were scraped from 24-well plates and kept in RNAlater at 4°C until use. The biofilms were suspended in

cold PBS, sonicated by an ultrasonic homogenizer (Sonics, USA) with amplitude of 25% for 30 seconds and then centrifuged at 5,500 g, 4°C, for 10 minutes. This sonicationwashing step was repeated 2 times in order to break cell clumps. After the final washing step, the cells were re-suspended in 0.25 ml of NAES buffer (50mM sodium acetate buffer, 10 mM EDTA and 1% SDS, pH 5.0) and transferred to new 2.0 ml microcentrifuge tubes. Glass beads (0.1 mm diameter) were added into the tubes until the final volume reached 0.5 ml, and an equal volume of acid phenol/chloroform (5:1, pH 4.5) was added and mixed by vortexing with maximum speed at 40 seconds in order to break the cells. This mixing step was repeated 2 times and then the cell extract was centrifuged at 14,000 g, 25°C for 15 minutes. To isolate the nucleic acid, the aqueous layer was collected and mixed with equal volume of acid phenol/chloroform (5:1, pH 4.5) for 10 seconds and then centrifuged at 14,000 g, 4°C for 15 minutes. The aqueous layer was then mixed with equal volume of chloroform/isoamyl alcohol (24:1) and centrifuged at 14,000 g, 4°C for 5 minutes. The aqueous phase was transferred to a new 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube. Nucleic acid (RNA/DNA) was precipitated using a 1/10 volume of 3M sodium acetate (pH 5.0) and 1 volume of cold isopropanol and stored at -20°C for at least 30 minutes. The precipitates were collected by centrifugation at 14,000 g, 4°C for 15 minutes and washed with 0.5 ml of cold 75% (v/v) ethanol three times followed by 0.5 ml of 99% cold ethanol. The pellets were dried at 65°C for 3 minutes and was dissolved in 20 µl of sterile distilled-DEPC water and stored in -80°C until use.

The samples were treated with DNase I (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) for 30 minutes at 37°C to remove DNA, and purified using ethanol precipitation to remove the DNase. The RNA concentration was quantified using the NanoDrop<sup>™</sup> 2000/2000c spectrophotometers (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA).

3.6.2 Quantitative reverse transcription PCR (qRT-PCR)

The bacterial mRNA was converted to cDNA by using Random Hexamer primer (Macrogen, Korea) and ImProm-II<sup>™</sup> Reverse Transcriptase (Promega, USA) according to manufacturer's instruction. Subsequently, quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR) with Luna Universal qPCR master mix (New England Biolabs, USA) was performed using primers shown in Table 1. The sequences of *pfl* primers were designed in this study using Primer3Plus software (online access: https://primer3plus.com).

Table	1 List of primer seque	ences of cariog	genic virulence	e genes of S	Streptococcus
mutana	6.				

Genes	Primer sequences	Descriptions	Ref.			
EPS syn	EPS synthesis and glucan binding					
	F: 5'- CACTATCGGCGGTTACGAAT-3'	Glucosyltransferase	(50)			
уив	R: 5'- CAATTTGGAGCAAGTCAGCA-3'	GTF-I	(59)			
atto	F: 5'- GATGCTGCAAACTTCGAACA -3'	Glucosyltransferase	(59)			
gtiC	R: 5'- TATTGACGCTGCGTTTCTTG -3'	GTF-SI				
gtfD	F: 5'- TTGACGGTGTTCGTGTTGAT -3'	Chucan dtransformer (EQ)				
	R: 5'- AAAGCGATAGGCGCAGTTTA -3'	Glucosylitalisierase-3	(39)			
gbpB	F: 5'- CGTGTTTCGGCTATTCGTGAAG -3'	Cluson binding protain D	(60)			
	R: 5'- TGCTGCTTGATTTTCTTGTTGC -3'	Glucan-binding protein B	(00)			
Sugar utilization						

		DTO I		
	F: 5'- GATTGCCCTCAGCAGTTGACAT -3'	PTS system sucrose-		
scrA		specific transporter subunit	(61)	
	1. 3 - OOTOOONNOTTIONTOONONO-3	IIABC		
oorP	F: 5'- ACAGCCTGTCCTGATTTATAGTC -3'	Sucrose-6-phosphate	(61)	
SCID	R: 5'- CTGGTAACCCAATCCATGAGAC -3'	hydrolase	(01)	
Idh	F: 5'- AAAAACCAGGCGAAACTCGC -3'	Lactate debudrogenase	(50)	
IGH	R: 5'- CTGAACGCGCATCAACATCA -3'	Lactate denydrogenase	(59)	
		Pyruvate dehydrogenase,		
pdhA		TPP-dependent E1	(33)	
	R: 5 - TCTTGGGCTTCAATATCT -3	component alpha-subunit		
of	F: 5'- ACGACCTTGGATACCTGTGC -3'	Duru voto formato lucas	In this	
рп	R: 5'- AAGACATGGCGAATCCAAAC-3'	Pyruvale formale-iyase	study	
Acidurici	ty			
otoD	F: 5'- TGTTGATGGTCTGGGTGAAA -3'	$F_1F_0$ -ATP synthase subunit	(25)	
αιρυ	R: 5'- TTTGACGGTCTCCGATAACC -3'	beta	(33)	
fabM	F: 5'- ACTGATTAATGCCAATGGGAAAGTC -3'	Enoul-CoA hydratase	(35)	
	R: 5'- TGCGAACAAGAGATTGTACATCATC -3'	Encyr-contryuratase	(00)	
Signal tr	ansduction system			
	F: 5'- CGTCATCAATAATGTCAATGCCTTC -3'	Histidine kinase sensor	(00)	
CIAH	R: 5'- TACCTTAACTGTCACTGTCCGATAC -3'	CiaH	(७∠)	
		ลัย		
ciaR		Response regulator CiaR	(33)	
	R: 5'- IGICATCCAAACCTTCCTTAGC -3'	RSITY		
Houseke	eeping genes			
10.511	F: 5'- AGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTG -3'	16S Pibosomal PNA	(50)	
TOSKINA	R: 5'- CTACGCATTTCACCGCTACA -3'	TUS KIDUSUITAI KINA	(59)	
rp o D	F: 5'- GCAGTCAAGGGGTGGAAATCG -3'	DNA-dependent RNA		
гроВ	R: 5'- TGGACGGCTTGTTGCAGGAATAC -3'	polymerase beta-subunit	(03)	

A reaction mixture was prepared by mixing 5  $\mu l$  of qPCR master mix, 0.25  $\mu l$  of each (10  $\mu M$ ) primer, 3  $\mu l$  of cDNA template and sterile MilliQ water up to 10  $\mu l.$  The

qRT-PCR was performed using the following cycling parameters: 1 cycle of initial denaturing at 95°C for 10 minutes and amplified for 40 cycles with denaturing at 95°C for 15 seconds, followed by annealing and extension at 60°C for 30 seconds. Melting curve analysis was subsequently performed from 60-95°C. *16sRNA* and *rpoB* genes were used as housekeeping genes. Levels of gene expression were calculated using the double delta CT method. The experiments were performed three times independently.

#### 3.7 Statistical analysis

All data were analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics version 22 (SPSS; Chicago, IL, USA). The differences of biofilm mass (crystal violet assay) and cell viability (MTT assay and microbial counts) between single- and the respective dual-species biofilms were evaluated with Mann-Whitney U test. Moreover, the differences of *S. mutans* gene expression in single- and dual-species biofilms co-cultured with each *Candida* spp. **Church on Constant Constant in Sec.** (two-variables) were examined using Mann-Whitney U test. The differences of biofilm mass, cell viability and *S. mutans* gene expression among dual-species biofilm of all NACs comparing to dual-species biofilms of *C. albicans* were analyzed using Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Mann-Whitney U test with Bonferroni correction. The differences of pH at 36 hours among all dual-species biofilms and *S. mutans* single-species biofilms.

were also evaluated with Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Mann-Whitney U test with Bonferroni correction. Statistical significance level was set at  $\alpha$  = 0.05.


#### CHAPTER IV

## RESULTS

#### 4.1 Biofilm mass of single- and dual-species biofilm

We investigated the effects of non-*albicans Candida* species (NACs) on biofilm mass, cell viability, and biofilm acidogenicity in co-culture with *Streptococcus mutans* as dual-species biofilm. First, we determined the biofilm mass of *S. mutans* and each *Candida* spp. in single-species and dual-species biofilm. In this experiment, single-species and dual-species biofilms were placed in 24-well plates containing BHI broth supplement with 5% sucrose. The plates were incubated for 36 h at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Total biofilm mass was measured using crystal violet assay, which stains both live and dead cells as well as exopolysaccharides in the biofilm matrix.

The ratio of biofilm mass of dual-species biofilm to the sum of each singlespecies biofilm is shown in **Figure 4**. When comparing between the 2 species in singlespecies culture, *S. mutans* (dark gray bars) can form biofilm better than *Candida* spp. (light gray bars). The ratio of *S. mutans* and *C. albicans* dual species biofilm mass tended to be greater than the ratio of the sum of the two single-species biofilm (P = 0.05). Similar results were observed in the dual species of *S. mutans* and each NACs. When comparing dual species biofilm mass among different *Candida* spp., the dual species biofilm of *S. mutans* and *C. tropicalis* was likely to be the highest relative biofilm mass (P = 0.05)



Figure 4 Determination of biofilm mass of single-species and dual-species biofilm via crystal violet assay.

The bar chart showed the average ratios of relative biofilm mass of the sum of singlespecies biofilm (light gray bars and dark gray bars), and dual-species biofilms (black bars), to the sum of biofilm mass of respective single-species biofilm. Error bars

represent standard deviations from three biological replicates.

4.2 Cell viability of S. mutans and Candida spp. in single- and dual- species biofilm

To determine cell viability of *S. mutans* and *Candida* spp. in single-species and dual-species biofilm, MTT assay and microbial counts methods (CFU/ml) were performed.

MTT assay determines cell viability based on enzymatic activity in the cells. The ratios of cell viability of dual-species biofilm were calculated relative to the sum of respective single species biofilm (**Figure 5**). Similar levels of viability to single-species biofilm were observed in dual-species biofilm of *S. mutans* and all *Candida* spp., except *S. mutans* and *C. tropicalis* dual-species biofilm, which had a tendency to be higher than the sum of single species biofilm (P = 0.05).



Figure 5 Determination of cell viability using MTT assay in single-species and dualspecies biofilms.

The bar chart shows the average ratio of cell viability of the sum of single-species biofilm (light gray bars) and dual-species biofilms, relative to the sum of single-species biofilm (dark gray bars). Error bars represent standard deviations from three biological replicates.

To assess cell viability of each species in the dual species biofilm, the microbial count method was performed. The results showed that when *S. mutans* were cultured with *Candida* spp., they showed higher viability than when they were grown alone (Fig. 6A). On the other hand, the viability of *C. albicans, C. dubliniensis* and *C. glabrata* when co-cultured with *S. mutans* showed similar viability as when they were grown alone whereas *C. parapsilosis, C. tropicalis* and *C. krusei* in dual-species biofilm showed an increase in CFU (Fig. 6B).



Figure 6 Determination of cell viability using microbial count method (CFU/ml).

40

Bar graphs showed the number of S. mutans (Log CFU/ml) (Fig. 6A) and Candida spp. (Log CFU/ml) (Fig. 6B) in single-species biofilm (light gray bars) and dual-species biofilm (dark gray bars). Data are presented as means and standard deviation from three biological replicates. Asterisk (\*) represents statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) by Mann-Whitney U test.

#### 4.3 pH of single-species and dual-species biofilm

After 36 hours of biofilm formation, pH values of *S. mutans* single species biofilm and dual species biofilm of all tested strains were approximately 4, which was lower than the critical pH of enamel (pH=5.5, **Figure 7**). However, the average pH of all *Candida* single species biofilm was higher than pH 5.5.



Figure 7. Determination of pH after 36 h of biofilm formation.

Data were presented as mean and standard deviation of single-species biofilm (S. mutans, white bar; Candida spp., light gray bars) and dual-species biofilms (dark gray bars). Three biological replicates were performed.

Acid is a byproduct of sugar fermentation, which occurs throughout the process of biofilm formation. To monitor the change of pH during the formation of biofilm, the kinetics of pH production was performed. The results showed that the pattern of pH change in dual-species biofilms (black color symbols and lines) was similar to that of *S*. *mutans* in single-species biofilm (red dots and red line), but was different from *Candida* spp. in single-species biofilm at all stages of development as shown in **Figure 8**.



**Figure 8.** Determination of the dynamics of pH change over time during biofilm formation.

Data are presented as means from three biological replicates. SM: S. mutans; CA: C. albicans; CD: C. dubliniensis; CP: C. parapsilosis; CT: C. tropicalis; CG: C. glabrata; CK: C. krusei.

4.4 Effects of *Candida* spp. on the expression cariogenic virulence genes of *S. mutans* in dual-species biofilm

To investigate the effects of non-albicans Candida species (NACs) on cariogenic virulence gene expression of *S. mutans* in dual-species biofilm, we measured the levels of gene expression using quantitative reverse transcription PCR (qRT-PCR). We examined the levels of expression of genes related to exopolysaccharides (EPS) synthesis (*gtfB, gtfC* and *gtfD*), glucan binding (*gbpB*), sugar utilization (*scrA, scrB, ldh, pfl* and *pdhA*), acid stress tolerance (*atpD* and *fabM*) and signal transduction system (*ciaR* and *ciaH*). These genes were selected based on previous studies that showed *S. mutans* virulence gene upregulations when co-cultured

with C. albicans (17, 33, 35, 60).

The expression levels of genes related to exopolysaccharides (EPS) synthesis genes (*gtfB*, *gtfC* and *gtfD*) are shown in **Figure 9**. The expression of *gtfB* were upregulated in dual species biofilm especially when co-culture with *C. albicans* (3.7 folds), *C. tropicalis* (6.1 folds) and *C. krusei* (6.5 folds). Similar results were observed in *gtfD* whereas the expression of *gtfC* of *S. mutans* with *C. albicans* and *C. parapsilosis* were

similar to the expression of *S. mutans* single-species biofilm (Fig.9). In addition, the expression levels of *gbpB* in dual-species biofilms were lower than or similar to that of single species biofilm (Fig. 9).



Figure 9. The relative levels of expression of genes involved in EPS synthesis

#### and glucan binding.

The relative levels of expression of genes involved in EPS synthesis and glucan binding were calculated using the double delta CT method and normalized to S. mutans single-species biofilm (represented by the red dots). The data points showed data from three independent experiments and the horizontal line represented the median. Asterisk (\*) represented statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) by Mann-Whitney U test. SM: S. mutans; CA: C. albicans; CD: C. dubliniensis; CP: C. parapsilosis; CT: C. tropicalis; CG: C. glabrata; CK: C. krusei.

The expression levels of genes related to sugar utilization (Fig. 1) were shown in **Figure 10**. The expression of *S. mutans scrA* and *scrB* was upregulated when cocultured with *C. albicans, C. tropicalis, C. glabrata* and *C. krusei,* but not with *C. dubliniensis* and *C. parapsilosis* (Fig. 10). The levels of *Idh* expression of *S. mutans* in dual species biofilm showed similar to or lower than that of *S. mutans* single species biofilm. The expression levels of *pdhA* of *S. mutans* in dual species biofilm were higher than in single-species biofilm but not significantly different (Fig. 10). For *pfl* gene, the expression levels were increased in dual-species biofilms of *S. mutans* with *C. tropicalis,* but were downregulated with *C. dubliniensis* (Fig 10).

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY



**Figure 10.** The relative levels of expression of genes involved in sugar utilization. The relative levels of expression of genes involved in sugar utilization were calculated using the double delta CT method and normalized to S. mutans single-species biofilm (represented by the red dots). The data points showed data from three independent

experiments and the horizontal line represented the median. Asterisk (\*) represented statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) by Mann-Whitney U test. SM: S. mutans; CA: C. albicans; CD: C. dubliniensis; CP: C. parapsilosis; CT: C. tropicalis; CG: C. glabrata; CK: C. krusei.

The relative expression levels of genes related to acid stress tolerance are presented in **Figure 11**. The expression level of *atpD* and *fabM* of *S. mutans* were downregulated in the presence of *C. dubliniensis*. For other NACs, the relative expression of *S. mutans atpD* and *fabM* in dual-species biofilm (except *C. dubliniensis*) were similar to *S. mutans* in single-species biofilm.



**Figure 11.** The relative levels of expression of genes involved in acid stress tolerance. The relative levels of expression of genes involved in acid stress tolerance were calculated using the double delta CT method and normalized to S. mutans singlespecies biofilm (represented by the red dots). The data points showed data from three

independent experiments and the horizontal line represented the median. Asterisk (\*) represented statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) by Mann-Whitney U test. SM: S. mutans; CA: C. albicans; CD: C. dubliniensis; CP: C. parapsilosis; CT: C. tropicalis; CG: C. glabrata; CK: C. krusei.

The signal transduction system is related to biofilm formation (EPS synthesis and glucan binding), sucrose-dependent adherence and acid tolerance. The expression levels of *ciaR* and *ciaH* genes of the signal transduction system are presented in Figure **12**. The expression of *ciaR* was upregulated in the presence of *C. tropicalis* only, whereas the expression of *ciaH* were upregulated in the presence of all *Candida* spp. , except *C. dubliniensis*.



Figure 12. The relative levels of expression of genes involved in signal transduction system.

The relative levels of expression of genes involved in signal transduction system were calculated using the double delta CT method and normalized to S. mutans single species biofilm (represented by the red dots). The data points showed data from three independent experiments and the horizontal line represented the median. Asterisk (\*) represented statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) by Mann-Whitney U test. SM: S. mutans; CA: C. albicans; CD: C. dubliniensis; CP: C. parapsilosis; CT: C. tropicalis;



#### CHAPTER V

#### DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

This study investigated the effects of co-culturing of non-albicans Candida species (NACs) and *S. mutans* on virulence-related phenotypes, including biofilm mass, cell viability and biofilm acidogenicity of the dual species biofilms, and on cariogenic virulence gene expression of *S. mutans*. Our results revealed that *S. mutans* and NACs dual species biofilm exhibited increased biofilm mass compared to the combined mass of the 2 respective single species biofilm. This is similar to *S. mutans* and *C. albicans* dual species biofilm, which has been previously reported (16, 17, 64, 65) (Fig. 4). Interestingly, the highest level of biofilm mass was observed in *S. mutans* and *C. albicans* and *C. albicans* (Fig. 4). We also observed changes in virulence gene expression of *S. mutans* and *C. albicans* that may contribute to the increase in biofilm mass and cariogenicity in dual species biofilm.

Most NACs dual species biofilm showed increased biofilm mass, but *C. krusei* showed the least increase. We hypothesize that this was due to the weaker adherence to plastic surfaces (66). The thickness of dual species biofilms of *S. mutans* and *C. krusei* was visible during the biofilm formation process. However, the biofilm often became partially dislodged during the washing step before CV staining. This may result in the lower level of measured biofilm mass than the actual biofilm formed.

Based on previous studies, the increase in biofilm mass of dual species culture of *S. mutans* and *C. albicans* resulted from the interactions between glucans and *C. albicans* (16, 17, 64, 65). The presence of *C. albicans* up-regulates the *gtfBCD* expression of *S. mutans* (33, 67). The different *gtf* genes encode glucosyltransferases (Gtfs) with different characteristics. While GtfB produces insoluble glucans, which are the main component of EPS, GtfC produces both insoluble and soluble glucans and GtfD creates only soluble glucans (10). Furthermore, the Gtf exoenzymes, especially GtfB, bind to *C. albicans* cell wall mannan and turn the fungus into a glucan producer resulting in the large production of glucans, which promote the binding between microbial cells and to tooth surface (17).

Our results on the expression of genes related to exopolysaccharides (EPS) synthesis suggested that the presence of *C. albicans* enhance the expression of *gtfBD* but not *gtfC* (Fig. 9). This result was different from previous reports, which showed increased *gtfBCD* expression in dual species biofilm (33, 67). This variation of *gtf* expression may be a result of the differences in growth conditions among studies. The expression of *gtf* genes was shown to depend on growth phase (68). Moreover, the growth of microbes as biofilm appears to be heterogeneous; this may cause variation in *gtf* gene expression. Additionally, the variation of *gtf* expression may also be strain-dependent (68).

The presence of NACs, especially *C. tropicalis* and *C. krusei*, upregulated the *gtfBCD* expression (Fig. 9). The expression of both *gtfBC*, which produce insoluble glucans, may provide the large amount of glucans leading to the higher biofilm mass of *S. mutans* and *C. tropicalis* than *S. mutans* and *C. albicans*.

Moreover, a previous study using C. albicans with defects in mannoprotein synthesis showed that O- and N-mannan are parts of C. albicans cell wall where GtfB binds (15). They also showed that  $\alpha$ -mannan, which is found in O- and N- mannan, plays an important role in the binding strength (Fig. 3) (15). C. tropicalis also possess O- and N- mannan, similarly to C. albicans, but the composition and arrangement of cell wall mannans are different (Fig. 3) (47). The N-mannans of C. tropicalis are more abundant of phosphomannan and  $\beta$  1,2-mannose residues than those of *C. albicans;* this difference may affect GtfB binding (47, 69). In addition, a proteomics study revealed that the presence of S. mutans upregulated genes related to cell wall components of C. albicans, such as mannan and glucan (70). We hypothesize that similar responses may happen in C. tropicalis, but may be to a different degree. Further analysis is needed to prove this hypothesis. These differences may contribute to the higher biofilm mass of S. mutans and C. tropicalis dual species biofilm than those of S. mutans and C. albicans dual species biofilm.

Based on the results from MTT assays, the viability of *S. mutans* and *C. albicans* in dual-species biofilm was similar to the sum of single species biofilm. On the other

hand, the dual species biofilm of S. mutans and C. tropicalis clearly exhibited higher number of viable cells comparing to the sum of single species biofilm (Fig. 5). Several previous studies reported the viability using microbial count method which can exhibit the number of each microorganism in dual species biofilm (16, 17, 64, 65). Our microbial count results showed that when S. mutans was co-cultured with C. albicans or NACs, the numbers of viable S. mutans cells were higher than in single species biofilm (Fig. 6a). On the other hand, in the presence of S. mutans, the number of viable Candida cells was similar to the number of Candida in single species biofilm (Fig. 6b). Previous studies reported different results on the number of S. mutans in dual species biofilm. While some studies reported no change, others found a higher number of S.mutans in dual species biofilm than single species biofilm (16, 17, 65). However, the results on the number of C. albicans were consistently higher in dual species biofilm compared to single species biofilm (16, 17, 65). The differences between previous studies and ours may come from the difference in the culture conditions. In our study, biofilm was formed in BHI containing 5% sucrose, which is favorable for S. mutans growth, whereas other studies used a yeast based medium and glucose which may favor Candida growth (16, 17, 65). Moreover, in previous studies, the culture media were changed several times during the growth of biofilm and the cultures were incubated for a longer period of time than in our study. These factors may affect the growth of microorganisms in the biofilm.

We also determined the level of acid production by measuring the pH of the medium. We found similar results to previous studies (17, 64, 65, 70) that the pH values of all dual species biofilm were similar to those of *S. mutans* single species biofilm (pH = approximately 4.0, which is lower than the critical pH of enamel (pH = 5.5)). On the other hand, the pH values of *C. albicans* and NACs single species biofilm ranged from 5.5 to 6.4 (Fig. 7). The high pH value found in *Candida* single species biofilm may result from their poor metabolism of sucrose comparing to glucose (65). In dual species biofilm, *S. mutans* metabolize sucrose and release glucose which can be further metabolized by *Candida* spp. (65, 70). Nevertheless, because *S. mutans* is the major acid producer, the final pH in the dual-species biofilm is similar to that of *S.mutans* single species culture.

Our results on the expression of genes related to sugar metabolism of *S. mutans* revealed that the presence of *C. albicans* upregulated *scrA/B* (sugar transportation), *pdhA* and *pfl* (pyruvate metabolism) genes of *S. mutans*, consistently with the previous transcriptome study (33). In dual species biofilm, *S. mutans* and *C. albicans* consumed sugar for their growth causing the sugar limitation. In this sugar limitation condition, *S. mutans* upregulated *scrA* gene, which encodes an enzyme that transport sucrose into the cells, and increased *ScrB*, which produces glucose-6-phosephate for pyruvate production. Moreover, this condition may push *S. mutans* to metabolize pyruvate to formate and acetyl CoA (acetate and ethanol) via a pyruvate dehydrogenase (encoded by *pdh*) and a pyruvate-formate lyase (encoded by *pfl*). The formate and acetate are

acid end-product causing the acidic pH in dual species biofilm (33). We found the same result in the presence of *C. tropicalis* and *C. krusei* (Fig. 10).

A previous study showed that the expression levels of genes involved in acid stress tolerance (*atpD* and *fabM*) of *S. mutans* in dual species biofilms were increased (17). *S. mutans* has an ability to survive, grow and can adapt well to low pH condition via the increase of proton extrusion by  $F_1F_0$ - ATPase system (encoded by *atpD*) (35, 36). The system prevents proton influx to the cell by increasing the production of monosaturated fatty acid at the cell membrane (encoded by *fabM*) (34) and passing the acid end product out of the cells (71). In contrast, we observed similar levels of expression of these acid stress tolerance genes in *S. mutans* in single species biofilm and *S. mutans* co-cultured with *Candida* spp. (Fig. 11). The different results may be due to the differences in the period of measurement; the previous study found the upregulation of the genes expression at 36 hours (17).

Our and previous studies found that the presence of *C. albicans* upregulated *ciaRH* of *S. mutans* (33). Moreover, we found that *C. tropicalis* and *C. krusei* also enhanced the expression of these two genes in *S. mutans* (Fig. 12). The CiaRH, a twocomponent signal transduction system, plays a role in biofilm formation, sucrosedependent adherence and acid tolerance of *S. mutans* (71). Therefore, the presence of *C. albicans* and NACs increase the expression of genes related to cariogenicity of *S. mutans*.

Several previous studies observed the presence of NACs, including *C*. *tropicalis*, *C. krusei*, *C. parapsilosis*, *C. glabrata* and *C. dubliniensis*, in children with dental caries (12, 22, 23, 53) and *C. tropicalis* was the most commonly reported species among NACs (12, 53, 72, 73). Moreover, some studies showed the prevalence of NACs such as *C. tropicalis*, *C. krusei* and *C. dubliniensis* in the caries-active group were higher than in the caries-free group (12, 22). Although there is no strong evidences on the cause and effect relation between *Candida* spp. and ECC, a retrospective study in a large cohort suggested that oral thrush and other *Candida*-related conditions may increase the risk of caries (74). We also found that several *Candida* species can enhance cariogenic potentials of *S. mutans*. These altogether imply that the presence of NACs may contribute to the development of ECC. However, further longitudinal and experimental studies are needed to prove this hypothesis.

Our study carries certain limitations. First, our experiments were performed *in vitro* with a small sample size (n=3), thus statistical analysis may not be appropriate (75) This may explain why we could observe only a marginally significant difference (P = 0.05) (Fig. 4 and 5). Furthermore, we used standard laboratory strains of microorganisms, which may behave differently from clinical isolates. The cultures were performed under 1 condition which may not simulate conditions in the oral cavity. In

addition, we only investigated the interactions in dual-species biofilm, but dental plaque is composed of a multitude of microorganisms. Whether our observations occur in the complex context of multispecies dental plaque remains unknown.

In conclusion, the presence of NACs, especially *C. tropicalis* and *C. krusei*, can promote *S. mutans* virulence in the same way as *C. albicans*, but to different degrees. In term of biofilm mass, the greater upregulation of *gtfBCD* and *ciaRH* of *C. tropicalis* and *C. krusei* than *C. albicans*, together with the difference of cell wall mannan structures, may lead to the higher biofilm mass. Furthermore, in our culture condition, we found that the glucan binding protein (Gbp) may not contribute to biofilm formation of dual species biofilm, which is consistent with the study by Falsetta *et al.* (17). However, the pH of culture media of dual species biofilm of *S. mutans* and *C. albicans* and of *S. mutans* and NACs were similar although the expression of gene related to sugar metabolism of NACs group were greater than *C. albicans*. Interestingly, the presence of *C. dubliniensis*, which have similar characteristics to *C. albicans*, in dual species biofilms did not affect *S. mutans* gene expression.

The results of this study provide basic information regarding the interactions between *S. mutans* and non- *albicans Candida* species (NACs). The better understanding of the cariogenic process will lead to future development of effective prevention and treatment for dental caries.

# APPENDIX A

# REAGENTS AND INSTRUMENTS

# Reagents

Absolute ethanol	(Merck, Germany)
Acetic acid	(Merck, Germany)
Agarose	(Vivantis, Malaysia)
Brain Heart Infusion (BHI) agar	(HiMedia, India)
Brain Heart Infusion (BHI) broth	(HiMedia, India)
Chloroform	(RCI LABSCAN, Thailand)
Crystal violet	(PanReac AppliChem, USA)
DEPC	(Sigma, USA)
DMSO	(Sigma, USA)
DNase I จุฬาลงกรณ์มหา	(Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA)
DNA ladder 100 bp CHULALONGKORN	(GeneDireX, USA)
EDTA	(USB, USA)
ImProm-II™ Reverse Transcriptase	(Promega, USA)
Isopropanol	(Merck, Germany)
KCI	(Merck, Germany)
KH2PO4	(Merck, Germany)
Luna® Universal qPCR Master Mix	(NEB, USA)

MTT	(Sigma, USA)		
Mitis-Salivarius (MS) agar	(Difco, USA)		
NaCl	(Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA)		
Na2HPO42H2O	(CARLO ERBA Reagents, USA)		
Nucleic acid gel stained	(Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA)		
PCR mastermix	(Qiagen, Germany)		
Primers	(Macrogen, Korea)		
Phenol	(Merck, Germany)		
RNAlater™ Stabilization Solution	(Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA)		
Sabouraud dextrose agar (SDA)	(HiMedia, India)		
Sucrose	(Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA)		
Taq DNA polymerase	(Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA)		
จุหาลงกรณ์มห	าวิทยาลัย		
Instruments CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY			
15 ml falcon tube	(Corning, USA)		
24-well plates	(Sigma-Aldrich, USA)		
Autopipette 10, 200 and 1,000 µl	(Mettler-Toledo Rainin, USA)		
Glass beads (0.1 mm diameter)	(Kepler, Thailand)		
Gel Documentation	(Bio-rad, USA)		
Incubator	(Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA)		



#### **REAGENTS PREPARATION**

1. 0.1% of crystal violet

Crystal violet powder	0.1	g
-----------------------	-----	---

Dissolve in Milli Q water 100 ml and stored at room temperature until use.

## 2. 33% of acetic acid

Acetic acid

33

ml

mg/ml

Dissolve in Milli Q water 67 ml and stored at room temperature until use and must be

used in a fume hood.

#### 3. MTT

MTT powder

Dissolve in sterile milli Q water and must be do the experiment under the darkened

5

place.

## จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

# 4. 1XPhosphate Buffered Saline (1xPBS, pH 7.4)

NaCl	8	g
KCI	0.2	g
Na2HPO42H2O	1.78	g
KH2PO4	0.24	g

Dissolve in Milli Q water 1 L and adjust pH to 7.4. Sterilize solution by autoclaving at

121 °C for 15 min and stored at 4 °C until use.

### 5. DEPC water

DEPC solution 1

Dissolve in Milli Q water 1 L using a magnetic stirrer overnight. After that, sterilize solution by autoclaving at 121 °C for 15 min and stored at 4 °C until use.

## 6. 1XNAES buffer (1xPBS, pH 5.0)

50mM sodium acetate

10 mM EDTA

1% SDS

Dissolve in sterile DEPC water 10 ml and adjust pH to 5.0 ± 0.2. Stored at 4 °C until

0.5

0.1

1

use.

ml/L

ml

ml

ml

#### REFERENCES

1. Pitts NB, Zero DT, Marsh PD, Ekstrand K, Weintraub JA, Ramos-Gomez F, et al. Dental caries. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2017;3.

2. Seow WK. Early Childhood Caries. Pediatr Clin North Am. 2018;65(5):941-54.

 Costa Oliveira BE, Cury JA, Ricomini Filho AP. Biofilm extracellular polysaccharides degradation during starvation and enamel demineralization. PLoS One. 2017;12(7):e0181168.

Rosan B, Lamont RJ. Dental plaque formation. Microbes Infect. 2000;2(13):1599 607.

5. Valdez RMA, Duque C, Caiaffa KS, Dos Santos VR, Loesch MLA, Colombo NH, et al. Genotypic diversity and phenotypic traits of Streptococcus mutans isolates and their relation to severity of early childhood caries. BMC Oral Health. 2017;17(1):115.

6. Banas JA, Drake DR. Are the mutans streptococci still considered relevant to understanding the microbial etiology of dental caries? BMC Oral Health. 2018;18(1):129.

7. Anil S, Anand PS. Early Childhood Caries: Prevalence, Risk Factors, and Prevention. Front Pediatr. 2017;5:157.

8. Bowen WH, Burne RA, Wu H, Koo H. Oral Biofilms: Pathogens, Matrix, and Polymicrobial Interactions in Microenvironments. Trends Microbiol. 2018;26(3):229-42.

9. Matsui R, Cvitkovitch D. Acid tolerance mechanisms utilized by Streptococcus mutans. Future Microbiol. 2010;5(3):403-17.

10. Bowen WH, Koo H. Biology of Streptococcus mutans-derived glucosyltransferases: role in extracellular matrix formation of cariogenic biofilms. Caries Res. 2011;45(1):69-86.

11. Millsop JW, Fazel N. Oral candidiasis. Clin Dermatol. 2016;34(4):487-94.

12. de Carvalho FG, Silva DS, Hebling J, Spolidorio LC, Spolidorio DM. Presence of mutans streptococci and Candida spp. in dental plaque/dentine of carious teeth and early childhood caries. Arch Oral Biol. 2006;51(11):1024-8.

13. Ghasempour M, Sefidgar SAA, Eyzadian H, Gharakhani S. Prevalence of *Candida albicans* in dental plaque and caries lesion of early childhood caries (ECC) according to

sampling site. Caspian J Intern Med. 2011;2(4):304-8.

14. Xiao J, Huang X, Alkhers N, Alzamil H, Alzoubi S, Wu TT, et al. Candida albicans and Early Childhood Caries: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Caries Res. 2018;52(1-2):102-12.

15. Hwang G, Liu Y, Kim D, Li Y, Krysan DJ, Koo H. Candida albicans mannans mediate Streptococcus mutans exoenzyme GtfB binding to modulate cross-kingdom biofilm development in vivo. PLoS Pathog. 2017;13(6):e1006407.

16. Barbosa JO, Rossoni RD, Vilela SF, de Alvarenga JA, Velloso Mdos S, Prata MC, et al. Streptococcus mutans Can Modulate Biofilm Formation and Attenuate the Virulence of Candida albicans. PLoS One. 2016;11(3):e0150457.

17. Falsetta ML, Klein MI, Colonne PM, Scott-Anne K, Gregoire S, Pai CH, et al. Symbiotic relationship between Streptococcus mutans and Candida albicans synergizes virulence of plaque biofilms in vivo. Infect Immun. 2014;82(5):1968-81.

 Bachtiar EW, Bachtiar BM. Relationship between Candida albicans and Streptococcus mutans in early childhood caries, evaluated by quantitative PCR.
 F1000Res. 2018;7:1645.

19. Lozano Moraga CP, Rodriguez Martinez GA, Lefimil Puente CA, Morales Bozo IC, Urzua Orellana BR. Prevalence of Candida albicans and carriage of Candida non-albicans in the saliva of preschool children, according to their caries status. Acta Odontol Scand. 2017;75(1):30-5.

20. Mushi MF, Mtemisika CI, Bader O, Bii C, Mirambo MM, Gross U, et al. High Oral Carriage of Non-albicans Candida spp. among HIV-infected individuals. Int J Infect Dis. 2016;49:185-8.

21. Benito-Cruz B, Aranda-Romo S, López-Esqueda FJ, de la Rosa-García E, Rosas-Hernández R, Sánchez-Vargas LO. Oral Candida isolates and fluconazole susceptibility patterns in older Mexican women. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics. 2016;65:204-10.

22. Al-Ahmad A, Auschill TM, Dakhel R, Wittmer A, Pelz K, Heumann C, et al. Prevalence of Candida albicans and Candida dubliniensis in caries-free and caries-active children in relation to the oral microbiota-a clinical study. Clin Oral Investig. 2016;20(8):1963-71.

Xiao J, Grier A, Faustoferri RC, Alzoubi S, Gill AL, Feng C, et al. Association
between Oral Candida and Bacteriome in Children with Severe ECC. J Dent Res.
2018;97(13):1468-76.

24. Shibata N, Kobayashi H, Suzuki S. Immunochemistry of pathogenic yeast, Candida species, focusing on mannan. Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci. 2012;88(6):250-65.

25. Kobayashi H, Matsuda K, Ikeda T, Suzuki M, Takahashi S, Suzuki A, et al. Structures of cell wall mannans of pathogenic Candida tropicalis IFO 0199 and IFO 1647 yeast strains. Infect Immun. 1994;62(2):615-22.

26. Kogan G, Pavliak V, Masler L. Structural studies of mannans from the cell walls of the pathogenic yeasts Candida albicans serotypes A and B and Candida parapsilosis. Carbohydr Res. 1988;172(2):243-53.

27. Meyer F, Enax J. Early Childhood Caries: Epidemiology, Aetiology, and Prevention. Int J Dent. 2018;2018:1415873-.

28. Hajishengallis E, Parsaei Y, Klein MI, Koo H. Advances in the microbial etiology and pathogenesis of early childhood caries. Mol Oral Microbiol. 2017;32(1):24-34.

29. Piva F, Pereira JT, Luz PB, Hashizume LN, Hugo FN, Araujo FB. A Longitudinal Study of Early Childhood Caries and Associated Factors in Brazilian Children. Braz Dent J. 2017;28(2):241-8.

30. Russell RR. The molecular biology of cariogenic bacteria In: Rogers AH, editor.Molecular Oral Microbiology. 1st ed: Caister Academic Press; 2008. p. 109-27.

Marsh PD, Lewis MAO, Rogers H, Williams DW, Wilson M. Distribution,
development and benefits of the oral microbiota. Marsh and Martin's Oral Microbiology.
6th ed: Churchill Livingstone; 2016.

32. Marsh PD, Takahashi N, Nyvad B. Biofilms in caries development. In: Fejerskov O, Nyvad B, Kidd E, editors. Dental caries the disease and its clinical management. 3rd ed: Wiley-Blackwell; 2015. p. 107-32.

33. He J, Kim D, Zhou X, Ahn SJ, Burne RA, Richards VP, et al. RNA-Seq Reveals Enhanced Sugar Metabolism in Streptococcus mutans Co-cultured with Candida albicans within Mixed-Species Biofilms. Front Microbiol. 2017;8:1036.

34. Fozo EM, Quivey RG, Jr. The fabM gene product of Streptococcus mutans is responsible for the synthesis of monounsaturated fatty acids and is necessary for survival at low pH. J Bacteriol. 2004;186(13):4152-8.

35. Bezerra DS, Stipp RN, Neves BG, Guedes SF, Nascimento MM, Rodrigues LK. Insights into the Virulence Traits of Streptococcus mutans in Dentine Carious Lesions of Children with Early Childhood Caries. Caries Res. 2016;50(3):279-87.

36. Klein MI, Xiao J, Lu B, Delahunty CM, Yates JR, 3rd, Koo H. Streptococcus mutans protein synthesis during mixed-species biofilm development by high-throughput quantitative proteomics. PLoS One. 2012;7(9):e45795.

37. Lamont RJ, Koo H, Hajishengallis G. The oral microbiota: dynamic communities and host interactions. Nat Rev Microbiol 2018;16(12):745-59.

38. Matsumoto-Nakano M. Role of Streptococcus mutans surface proteins for biofilm formation. Jpn Dent Sci Rev. 2018;54(1):22-9.

Mattos-Graner RO, Porter KA, Smith DJ, Hosogi Y, Duncan MJ. Functional analysis of glucan binding protein B from Streptococcus mutans. J Bacteriol. 2006;188(11):3813-25.

40. Gregoire S, Xiao J, Silva BB, Gonzalez I, Agidi PS, Klein MI, et al. Role of glucosyltransferase B in interactions of Candida albicans with Streptococcus mutans and with an experimental pellicle on hydroxyapatite surfaces. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2011;77(18):6357-67.

41. Hwang G, Marsh G, Gao L, Waugh R, Koo H. Binding Force Dynamics of Streptococcus mutans-glucosyltransferase B to Candida albicans. Journal of dental research. 2015;94(9):1310-7.

42. Klinke T, Guggenheim B, Klimm W, Thurnheer T. Dental Caries in Rats Associated with <i>Candida albicans</i>. Caries Research. 2011;45(2):100-6.

43. Nelson RD, Shibata N, Podzorski RP, Herron MJ. Candida mannan: chemistry, suppression of cell-mediated immunity, and possible mechanisms of action. Clin Microbiol Rev. 1991;4(1):1-19.

44. Gow NAR, Hube B. Importance of the Candida albicans cell wall during commensalism and infection. Current Opinion in Microbiology. 2012;15(4):406-12.

45. Sandin RL. Studies on cell adhesion and Concanavalin A-induced agglutination of Candida albicans after mannan extraction. 1987;24(2):145-50.

46. Ballou C. Structure and Biosynthesis of the Mannan Component of the Yeast Cell Envelope. In: Rose AH, Tempest DW, editors. Advances in Microbial Physiology. 14: Academic Press; 1976. p. 93-158.

47. Kobayashi H, Matsuda K, Ikeda T, Suzuki M, Takahashi S, Suzuki A, et al. Structures of cell wall mannans of pathogenic Candida tropicalis IFO 0199 and IFO 1647 yeast strains. Infection and immunity. 1994;62(2):615-22.

48. Takahashi S, Kudoh A, Okawa Y, Shibata N. Significant differences in the cell-wall mannans from three Candida glabrata strains correlate with antifungal drug sensitivity. FEBS J. 2012;279(10):1844-56.

49. Hall RA, Gow NAR. Mannosylation in Candida albicans: role in cell wall function and immune recognition. Mol Microbiol. 2013;90(6):1147-61.

50. Baker JL, Bor B, Agnello M, Shi W, He X. Ecology of the Oral Microbiome: Beyond Bacteria. Trends Microbiol. 2017;25(5):362-74.

51. Benito-Cruz B, Aranda-Romo S, López-Esqueda FJ, de la Rosa-García E, Rosas-Hernández R, Sánchez-Vargas LO. Oral Candida isolates and fluconazole susceptibility patterns in older Mexican women. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2016;65:204-10.

52. Sato T, Kishi M, Suda M, Sakata K, Shimoda H, Miura H, et al. Prevalence of Candida albicans and non-albicans on the tongue dorsa of elderly people living in a postdisaster area: a cross-sectional survey. BMC oral health. 2017;17(1):51-.

53. Raja M, Hannan A, Ali K. Association of oral candidal carriage with dental caries in children. Caries Res. 2010;44(3):272-6.

54. Ells R, Kock JL, Pohl CH. Candida albicans or Candida dubliniensis? Mycoses. 2011;54(1):1-16.

55. Shibata N, Ikuta K, Imai T, Satoh Y, Satoh R, Suzuki A, et al. Existence of Branched Side Chains in the Cell Wall Mannan of Pathogenic Yeast, Candida albicans: STRUCTURE-

ANTIGENICITY RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE CELL WALL MANNANS OF CANDIDA ALBICANS AND CANDIDA PARAPSILOSIS. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 1995;270(3):1113-22.

56. Arzmi MH, Alnuaimi AD, Dashper S, Cirillo N, Reynolds EC, McCullough M. Polymicrobial biofilm formation by Candida albicans, Actinomyces naeslundii, and Streptococcus mutans is Candida albicans strain and medium dependent. Med Mycol. 2016;54(8):856-64.

57. Traba C, Liang JF. Susceptibility of Staphylococcus aureus biofilms to reactive discharge gases. Biofouling. 2011;27(7):763-72.

58. Cury JA, Koo H. Extraction and purification of total RNA from Streptococcus mutans biofilms. Anal Biochem. 2007;365(2):208-14.

59. Wang Y, Wang X, Jiang W, Wang K, Luo J, Li W, et al. Antimicrobial peptide GH12 suppresses cariogenic virulence factors of Streptococcus mutans. J Oral Microbiol.
2018;10(1):1442089.

60. Wen ZT, Yates D, Ahn S-J, Burne RA. Biofilm formation and virulence expression by Streptococcus mutans are altered when grown in dual-species model. BMC Microbiology. 2010;10(1):111.

61. Li B, Li X, Lin H, Zhou Y. Curcumin as a Promising Antibacterial Agent: Effects on Metabolism and Biofilm Formation in S. mutans. Biomed Res Int. 2018;2018:11.

62. Hu X, Wang Y, Gao L, Jiang W, Lin W, Niu C, et al. The Impairment of Methyl Metabolism From luxS Mutation of Streptococcus mutans. Front Microbiol. 2018;9:404.

63. Park SN, Lim YK, Kook JK. Development of quantitative real-time PCR primers for detecting 42 oral bacterial species. Arch Microbiol. 2013;195(7):473-82.

64. Sampaio AA, Souza SE, Ricomini-Filho AP, Del Bel Cury AA, Cavalcanti YW, Cury JA. Candida albicans Increases Dentine Demineralization Provoked by Streptococcus mutans Biofilm. Caries Research. 2019;53(3):322-31.

65. Lobo CIV, Rinaldi TB, Christiano CMS, De Sales Leite L, Barbugli PA, Klein MI. Dual-species biofilms of Streptococcus mutans and Candida albicans exhibit more biomass and are mutually beneficial compared with single-species biofilms. Journal of Oral Microbiology. 2019;11(1):1581520.

66. Kumari A, Mankotia S, Chaubey B, Luthra M, Singh R. Role of biofilm morphology, matrix content and surface hydrophobicity in the biofilm-forming capacity of various Candida species. J Med Microbiol. 2018;67(6):889-92.

67. Kim D, Sengupta A, Niepa TH, Lee BH, Weljie A, Freitas-Blanco VS, et al. Candida albicans stimulates Streptococcus mutans microcolony development via cross-kingdom biofilm-derived metabolites. Sci Rep. 2017;7:41332.

68. Stipp RN, Gonçalves RB, Höfling JF, Smith DJ, Mattos-Graner RO. Transcriptional analysis of gtfB, gtfC, and gbpB and their putative response regulators in several isolates of Streptococcus mutans. Oral Microbiol Immunol. 2008;23(6):466-73.

69. Navarro-Arias MJ, Hernández-Chávez MJ, García-Carnero LC, Amezcua-Hernández DG, Lozoya-Pérez NE, Estrada-Mata E, et al. Differential recognition of Candida tropicalis, Candida guilliermondii, Candida krusei, and Candida auris by human innate immune cells. Infect Drug Resist. 2019;12:783-94.

70. Ellepola K, Truong T, Liu Y, Lin Q, Lim TK, Lee YM, et al. Multi-omics Analyses Reveal Synergistic Carbohydrate Metabolism in Streptococcus mutans-Candida albicans Mixed-Species Biofilms. Infection and immunity. 2019;87(10):e00339-19.

71. Lemos JA, Palmer SR, Zeng L, Wen ZT, Kajfasz JK, Freires IA, et al. The Biology of Streptococcus mutans. Microbiol Spectr. 2019;7(1):10.1128/microbiolspec.GPP3-0051-2018.

2010. GHULALUNGKURN UNIVERSITY

72. Al-hebshi NN, Abdulhaq A, Quadri MFA, Tobaigy FM. Salivary carriage of Candida species in relation to dental caries in a population of Saudi Arabian primary school children. The Saudi Journal for Dental Research. 2015;6(1):54-9.

73. Naidu BV, Reginald BA. Quantification and Correlation of Oral Candida with Caries Index Among Different Age Groups of School Children: A Case-Control Study. Ann Med Health Sci Res. 2016;6(2):80-4.

74. Jean J, Goldberg S, Khare R, Bailey LC, Forrest CB, Hajishengallis E, et al. Retrospective Analysis of Candida-related Conditions in Infancy and Early Childhood Caries. Pediatr Dent. 2018;40(2):131-5. 75. Vaux DL. Know when your numbers are significant. Nature. 2012;492(7428):180-1.



# VITA

NAME	Wirunphat Sansanoa
DATE OF BIRTH	3 September 1994
PLACE OF BIRTH	Nakhon Si Thammarat
INSTITUTIONS ATTENDED	Bachelor's Degree: Faculty of Medical Technology,
	Prince of Songkla University, Hat Yai, Songkhla
HOME ADDRESS	55 Moo.8, Pho Sadet, Mueang District,
	Nakhon Si Thammarat 80000



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY